1979

# Norma Clark v. Interstate Homes, Inc. et al : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

## NATURE OF THE CASE

Plaintiff, Norma Clark, filed an action before the industrial commission of the State of Utah for disability compensation pursuant to Utah Law.

## DISPOSITION OF THE LOWER COURT

The matter was heard initially on February 28, 1978. A re-hearing was held August 11, 1978. An additional petition was later made for certain benefits to aid appellant in losing weight. The Lower Court gave to plaintiff a 30 percent permanent partial disability rating and denied plaintiff's petition for a weight loss clinic.

## RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

That the Supreme Court reverse the industrial commission and award to appellant a total permanent disability rating or, in the alternative, that the Supreme Court at least increase the permanent partial disability rating to 35 percent. And that the Supreme Court order the defendants to pay for a weight loss clinic for plaintiff.

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On March 3, 1977, while employed by Interstate Homes, Inc., appellant suffered an industrial accident. Said accident was duly reported to her employer, and she was thereafter taken to the emergency ward of the L.D.S. Hospital. She received treatment as an outpatient at L.D.S. Hospital and

was eventually referred to a medical clinic where she was treated by Dr. F. Jackson Millet. On Monday, March 21, 1977, appellant returned to her place of employment, worked that week and the following Monday. On the following Monday, March 28, 1977, she was instructed by Dr. Millet not to return to work. (T. 83) She has not worked since. In June of 1977, Dr. Millet performed an operation upon appellant which the doctor described as an "excision of the disc." (T. 177) In the months following the operation, appellant contracted phlebitis in her right leg, which still persists. (T. 114 and 118)

Appellant's medical progress has been described as "atypical" by several physicians, there being little improvement of her condition. (T. 179) February 28, 1978, was the date of the initial hearing before the industrial commission, which was presided over by Keith E. Sohm, Administrative Law Judge. Thereafter, a medical panel was appointed, with Dr. Boyd Holbrook being the single member of the panel. Dr. Holbrook made his findings to the commission. Pursuant to said findings, Judge Sohm awarded to plaintiff a 20 percent permanent partial disability rating. As a result of an objection by appellant, a subsequent hearing was held August 11, 1978. At said hearing Dr. Holbrook testified as to his findings; Dr. Robert H. Lamb, appellant's physician testified; and Norma Clark testified.

As a result of testimony received at the August 11, 1978 hearing, the disability rating was increased from 20 percent to a 25 percent permanent partial rating. Subsequently, in response to appellant's Motion for Review, the entire commission increased the disability rating an additional five percent to a 30 percent rating.

In January, 1979, pursuant to the written reports and requests of three treating physicians, and pursuant to a petition of appellant, the industrial commission was asked to award appellant fees necessary to enroll her in a Schick Weight Loss Clinic. The Administrative Law Judge denied this petition.

#### ARGUMENT

#### POINT I

#### THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN NOT AWARDING A PERMANENT TOTAL DISABILITY

At the hearings held, and as substantiated by the medical reports submitted to the industrial commission, appellant has had problems with her leg, with her back and with phlebitis. These facts have been substantiated both by the medical panel's physician and by Dr. Robert Lamb. At the present time and as testified at the initial hearing before the commission, appellant cannot sit for any prolonged time, cannot stand for long, and is unable to go back to work. (T. 88) During the week following the accident when appellant tried to return to work, she experienced great pain. (T. 83) Although appellant's physical condition was somewhat improved from the date of the first hearing to the second hearing of August 11, 1978, appellant is still in constant pain, which is substantiated by Dr. Robert Lamb. (T.187) Both Dr. Holbrook (T. 182) and Dr. Lamb (T. 189) state that Norma Clark is unable to return to manual labor.

Certain subjective factors should also be emphasized at this point. Appellant has an eighth grade education (T. 202), has performed only physical labor in the past (T. 203), has received no job training, and has performed no desk jobs. (T. 203)



Section 35-1-67 UCA (1953), refers to "permanent total disability" but fails to specifically define said term. One must look to the previous section which defines "partial disability compensation". Section 35-1-66 UCA (1953), begins as follows, "Where the injury causes partial disability for work... (emphasis added). It would seem that by implication that where partial disability compensation is based upon an applicant's partial disability for work that permanent disability should also be as to total disability for work. In this case, Norma Clark is totally disabled from performing any work for which she is trained. Other jurisdictions have specifically dealt with the problem presented in this case and have defined the term of permanent total disability in such a manner as to favor Mrs. Clark.

In Larsen, The Law of Workmen's Compensation, Volume 2, Matthew Bender, N.Y., N.Y. (1976), it is stated that "total disability in workmen's compensation law need not be interpreted as utter and abject helplessness." Id. at 10-107. Larsen talks about a doctrine know as "the odd lot" doctrine. He states as follows:

"Under the odd lot doctrine, which is accepted in virtually every jurisdiction, total disability may be found in the case of workers who, while not altogether incapacitated for work, are so handicapped that they will not be employed regularly in any well known branch of the labor market. Id. at 10-109."

The primary question in determining whether total disability may exist in any given case under the so-called "odd lot theory" is whether a worker's

personal problems or incapacity would stop him from any further gainful employment. A couple of cases from nearby jurisdictions are helpful to the case at hand.

In Rapp v. Hale, 170 Neb. 620, 103 N.W. 2nd 851 (1960), the injured worker was 25 years of age, had one year of high school, and had received no training in any field other than manual labor. Following the injury the worker had continuous pain and had been unable to engage in any kind of gainful employment. One of the examining doctors placed his percentage of total bodily disability at 15 percent while the same doctor and two others indicated that the plaintiff would never be able to return to any heavy manual labor, which is what he did prior to the accident. In that case, despite only fifteen percent permanent disability rating, the Nebraska Supreme Court overruled the lower court in awarding permanent total disability. The Court indicated that the term "total disability" didn't mean absolute helplessness. Id. at 856 of N.W. 2nd. The Court went on to state:

A workman, who, solely because of his injury, is unable to perform or to obtain any substantial amount of labor, either in his particular line of work, or in any other for which he would be fitted except for the injury, is totally disabled within the meaning of the workmen's compensation law. Id.

The applicant in the Rapp case was very similar to Norma Clark. In that case the claimant was younger than Mrs. Clark, had a lower disability rating, and yet the Nebraska Supreme Court gave him a permanent total disability award. As in the Rapp Case, Mrs. Clark has a limited education, has received no training for anything other than manual labor, and has performed no sedentary types of employment.

In Mansfield v. Caplener Brothers, Or. App., 500 P. 2nd 1221 (1972), a truck driver who had driven truck for twenty three years fell from a truck and injured his leg and back. In that case the claimant could neither stand nor sit for any length of time nor could he walk without swelling developing in his leg and pain in his back and leg. The Oregon appellate court indicated that in order for one to be considered disabled, he did not have to be utterly and completely helpless. The court felt that under the circumstances of claimant's eighth grade education, statements by other witnesses that claimant would probably never work again, and of claimant's limited intellectual resources, that he fit within the so-called "odd lot" category and that the burden was then on the employer to show that employment was available to the claimant. Since the employer failed to do so, and since the claimant was not employable, the court considered him permanently and totally disabled. The court made a statement which is very applicable to the case at hand:

Many persons with claimant's physical disabilities could still work. Claimant cannot because the disabilities are combined with a lack of education and training, and with what the Circuit Court termed "basic mental inadequacies." Id. at 1224 of P. 2d.

The pain has never left Mrs. Clark since March 3, 1977. Because of her inability to stand, sit, or walk for any length of time combined with her limited education, there are no jobs available to Mrs. Clark. Both Dr. Holbrook and Dr. Lamb indicated at the August 11, 1978 hearing that appellant was unable to engage in manual labor. Therefore, from a practical

standpoint, Norma Clark is totally and completely disabled to engaged in employable activities. Perhaps, after some training, pursuant to Section 35-1-68 USC (1953), claimant will be able to engage herself in employable activities. However, at the present time she cannot and should be awarded a permanent total disability rating.

#### POINT II.

##### THE LOWER COURT ERRED BY NOT GRANTING A HIGHER DISABILITY RATING

In supplement to the previous point and not as a substitute therefor, appellants petition the Court for an order increasing the disability rating from 30 percent as awarded by the industrial commission to 35 percent, pursuant to the facts presented on August 11, 1978.

After the initial hearing, the industrial commission appointed Dr. Boyd Holbrook as a single member medical panel. After a single examination and reference to the file and records available, Dr. Holbrook gave to applicant a permanent partial disability rating of 20 percent. After the appropriate motions were made, the administrative law judge increased the permanent partial rating to 25 percent. Subsequently, upon motion to the entire commission, the disability rating was increased to 30 percent. Although a 30 percent rating is closer to the rating which should have been provided, it still fails to provide applicant the rating which she deserves and which is supported by the evidence. The important factor to note here

is that Dr. Holbrook did not have all of the records and evidence available prior to making his report. In particular, Dr. Holbrook did not have a current myelogram.

Both Dr. Robert Lamb, applicant's personal physician and Dr. Holbrook testified on a subsequent hearing of August 11, 1978. The qualifications of each were stipulated to. (T. 177)

Dr. Lamb testified that since Dr. Holbrook's report, certain aspects of Mrs. Clark's condition had come to light. Specifically, he testified as to the results of a myelogram given on 5-25-78, which had "findings consistent and diagnostic of adhesive arachnoiditis." (T. 185) Dr. Lamb went on to testify that applicant should be given a 35 percent permanent partial disability rating. He testified that his rating was determined with the aid of the above-mentioned myelogram and in conjunction with Dr. Dennis Thoen, who had examined applicant on at least one prior occasion. (T. 36-38)

On the August 11th hearing, Dr. Holbrook was shown the 5-25-78 myelogram results. On Page 180 of the transcript, Dr. Holbrook indicated that he was not qualified to speak of new findings but could only testify as to the evidence before him when he examined Mrs. Clark and the documents presented to him at that time. (Also see T. 178) It should be noted that in the report to the industrial commission presented by Dr. Holbrook, he indicated that after diligent search he was unable to find a myelogram and x-ray performed at L.D.S. Hospital. (T. 219) When examined, Dr. Holbrook testified that if appellant, in fact, had adhesive arachnoiditis, it was

likely in some manner related to the accident and resulting treatment. (T. 123) He also testified that if appellant, in fact, had phlebitis, it, too, was a result of the accident and treatment. (T. 184)

Dr. Lamb's report should be accepted as conclusive upon this Court. His report and his testimony were based upon more complete and current evidence and medical findings. Dr. Lamb's testimony was never contradicted by the defendants. The only one qualified to contradict Dr. Lamb, Dr. Holbrook, stated that he could only speak as to what he had before him and could not testify as to additional facts. Defendants failed at any future date by way of letter, affidavit or otherwise from Dr. Holbrook to contradict the findings of Dr. Lamb. In fact, at the August 11 hearing, Dr. Holbrook stated that he could not disagree with the findings of Dr. Lamb, and that the myelogram findings help explain some of the otherwise unexplained symptoms of Mrs. Clark. (T. 194-95)

Although the law judge and the commission have increased the degree of disability from 20 percent to 30 percent, it should be once again increased to 35 percent, since the testimony and evidence of Dr. Lamb remains uncontradicted.

### POINT III

THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN NOT AWARDING APPELLANT FEES FOR WEIGHT LOSS CLINIC

On the date of the accident, Norma Clark's approximate weight was 155 pounds. (T. 93) As of August 8, 1978, she had increased her weight to 170 pounds. (T. 252) Her weight as of January 5, 1979, was 195 pounds.

In January of 1979, at least three of the physicians treating appellant recommended a weight loss program through the Schick Center. Dr. Robert Lamb recommended in writing to the industrial commission on letter dated January 11, 1979, that appellant be advised to lose weight, since her excess weight will cause further problems with her back. He specifically prescribed the Schick Center. (T. 251) Dr. David L. McCann indicates that Mrs. Clark has experienced about a 35 pound weight gain during his care of her and that such weight gain was possibly aggravated by an anti-depressant medication which he was giving her. He also indicated and agreed with Dr. Lamb that orthopedic problems are aggravated by her weight gain and joined with Dr. Lamb in recommending the Schick Center. (T. 248) Dr. Joseph A. Conrad, an expert in internal medicine and pulmonary medicine wrote a letter to the industrial commission dated January 6, 1979. (T. 252) He indicates that appellant's weight gain has resulted in persistent ankle swelling and indicates that a weight loss program would be in her best medical interest. He agrees with Dr. Lamb's recommendation for a weight loss program at the Schick Center. Despite three separate physicians indicating that a weight loss program was in her best interest and that the weight gain problems she is having are as a result at least partially of the accident in question, the law judge denied the request to have the defendant pay for her Schick Weight Loss Clinic. It is appellant's contention that this is wrong and should be granted according to Utah Law.

Utah Code Annotated Section 35-1-81 (1953), indicates that "the employer ...shall also be required to pay such reasonable sums for medical, nurse and hospital services...as may be necessary to treat the patient as in the judgment of the industrial commission may be just." In the estimate of three qualified physicians involved in three different areas of medicine, it would be just and would greatly aid appellant medically. Even though the treatment sought is not specifically performed by either a doctor or nurse or in a medical setting, the three physicians are of a common belief that it would benefit appellant's health and well being. The weight increase is obviously due to the accident and/or resulting treatment and should be covered by applicant's former employer.

It is submitted that the uniqueness of the request is the reason for its being denied by the law judge. However, it is clearly related to the medical treatment and has been specifically prescribed by three different physicians. This uniqueness should not preclude the Court from granting to appellant the treatment she needs and is entitled to.