1979

Norma Clark v. Interstate Homes, Inc. et al : Brief of Defendants

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

Plaintiff Norma Clark is seeking review of a final order of the Utah State Industrial Commission awarding her workmen's compensation benefits on the basis of 30% permanent partial disability.

DISPOSITION BY THE INDUSTRIAL COMMISSION

On November 3, 1977, plaintiff Norma Clark filed an application for workmen's compensation benefits with the Utah State Industrial Commission. Her claim was the subject of a formal hearing held on February 28, 1978 before Administrative Law Judge Keith E. Sohm. The medical aspects of the case were referred to a medical panel, the report of which was received on May 5, 1978. A further hearing was held on the plaintiff's objections to the medical panel report on August 11, 1978.

The Administrative Law Judge entered his Findings

of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order on August 23, 1978. Following a timely Motion for Review by the plaintiff, the Industrial Commission as a whole granted the Motion and entered an amended order on January 3, 1979, increasing the plaintiff's award. It is this Order of which the plaintiff seeks review.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON REVIEW

Defendants respectfully request that the Order of the Industrial Commission be affirmed.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Norma Clark suffered an injury by accident in the course of her employment with Interstate Homes, Inc., on March 3, 1977. The State Insurance Fund, as the workmen's compensation insurance carrier for the plaintiff's employer, accepted liability for the accident and paid Mrs. Clark temporary total disability compensation until January 11, 1978, in the amount of \$4,916.17. The Fund also paid the plaintiff's medical expenses during that period, in the amount of \$7,807.74.

The plaintiff was treated by numerous physicians for her back and leg difficulties. She underwent surgery in June of 1977, but did not gain relief from her pain. No treating physician could find any objective evidence of the physiological source of Ms. Clark's pain, and Dr. F. Jackson Millet reported that she could return to lighter duty work on October 25, 1977. (R. 42)

In an effort to resolve the question regarding the extent of the plaintiff's permanent disability, her case was brought to hearing and submitted to a medical panel. The panel found that she was suffering from a twenty (20)

per cent loss of bodily function which would be permanent.

(R. 219). The plaintiff objected to this finding and at the hearing held on her objections Dr. Robert Lamb testified that he had recently discovered the apparent source of Ms. Clark's continuing pain. He indicated that he had diagnosed a condition known as adhesive arachnoiditis. (R. 185) He further indicated that he felt her disability rating should be more appropriately set as thirty-five (35) per cent. Dr. Lamb also testified that the plaintiff was physically able to return to many types of employment. (R. 189)

There was no disagreement between the two doctors concerning Ms. Clark's symptomology, but Dr. Lamb felt the objective finding of arachnoiditis justified a higher rating because it gave strong credence to the pain reported by the plaintiff. He did admit that he would agree with a twenty (20) per cent permanent impairment rating absent the finding of arachnoiditis. (R. 200)

The Administrative Law Judge found the applicant twenty-five (25) percent permanently disabled, and the Commission as a whole increased this figure to thirty (30) per cent.

ARGUMENT

POINT I - THE ORDER ENTERED BY THE INDUSTRIAL COMMISSION IS FULLY SUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE.

The plaintiff is seeking review of the Industrial Commission's determination regarding the extent of her permanent disability. It is fundamental that a determination of permanent disability is a factual question which is within the exclusive prerogative of the Commission to resolve, and will not be

set aside on review unless there is no substantial evidence in the record upon which it can be supported. See Evans v. Industrial Comm'n, 28 Utah 2d 324, 502 P.2d 118 (1972); Wilstead v. Industrial Comm'n, 17 Utah 2d 214, 407 P.2d 692 (1965); Utah Code Ann. § 35-1-85 (1953).

In the instant case the plaintiff is claiming to be permanently and totally disabled because she is unable to return to her former employment. It is settled law in Utah that an injured worker is not totally disabled solely because of an inability to return to the same type of employment enjoyed prior to the injury. In Wilstead v. Industrial Comm'n, supra, this Court stated that

Compensation during total disability does not necessarily mean until the employee is able to do his former work. If this were so, where there is the loss of a hand, or a foot, or other permanent partial disablement, the period of total disability could be indefinite because he may never be able to do the same work again. The fact that when plaintiff's doctors released him for work he was unable to reobtain his former job is no reason for concluding that his condition of total disability continued until he could do so.

17 Utah 2d at 217.

The plaintiff's own physician testified that she was physically able to be employed (R. 189) and the Commission accepted that opinion. Further, the percentage of disability found by the Commission does not justify a determination that the plaintiff is now permanently and totally disabled. In Silver King Coalition Mines Co. v. Industrial Comm'n, 92 Utah 511, 69 P.2d 608 (1937), this Court noted that our compensation system is designed to compensate for loss of bodily function or permanent physical impairment, not

economic or industrial disability.

The compensation for permanent partial disability is measured either by the schedule or in proportion thereto and as deemed equitable on the loss of bodily functions alone, . . . But if the applicant claims total and permanent disability the issue is as to whether he is totally and permanently disabled industrially and economically. There is a twilight zone where one blends into the other. That is, the loss of bodily fuction may be so great as to leave one totally and permanently disabled industrially. Thus a person with a 90 per cent loss of bodily fuction might be able to prove himself totally and permanently disabled. If so, he would take himself out of the class of applicants limited to recover (for permanent loss of bodily function) and put himself in the class where his compensation should be determined by his total lack of industrial or economical ability. But until that point is reached, the permanent partial disability is seemingly compensated for on loss of bodily function alone . . .

69 P.2d at 613.

In that case, the Court refused to set aside of a finding that an applicant who was seventy (70) per cent impaired was not totally disabled. The plaintiff's impairment in the instant case does not approximate a rating of such severity as to present a question concerning her ability to find some form of employment, and the only medical testimony concerning her physical ability to work was to the effect that she could.

In Crow v. Industrial Comm'n, 104 Utah 333, 140 P.2d 321 (1943), an applicant with a 25-30% permanent impairment sought reivew of the denial of the Commission to find him permanently and totally disabled. The Court found that based upon the rating and the testimony of the physicians that there were types of work the employee could perform, such a denial was not unreasonable. These are essentially the same

facts as presented by the instant case, and appellant would assert that there is nothing contained in the record to demand a different result in this case.

The record is totally devoid of any evidence reflecting on the applicant's inability to perform work other than manual labor, except for her own assertion that she didn't think she could handle a "desk" job "because I like to be on the move." (R. 204)

In short, there is no evidence to justify a finding of permanent and total disability. Indeed, the evidence presented was that the plaintiff was at most 35% disabled and was capable of returning to work.

The plaintiff's contention that the Commission was bound to accept Dr. Lamb's 35% disability rating, instead of the 30% found by the Commission, is equally erroneous. Dr. Holbrook testified that at the time of his examination Ms. Clark had a 20% loss of bodily function. (R. 219) Dr. Lamb indicated that, although her symptoms didn't change, Ms. Clark was determined to have adhesive arachnoiditis subsequent to Dr. Holbrook's examination. Based upon this finding, Dr. Lamb gave his 35% disability rating. It is important to note that, if anything, Ms. Clark's physical impairment was reduced by this discovery, as it made her treatment more effective. (R. 197-98) Her symptoms and limitations were the same as when she was examined by Dr. Holbrook, and the only change was an objective finding which gave greater credence to her reports of pain. The difficult question presented to the Commission, therefore, was how to resolve the difference in

the two opinions of the physicians. It should be noted that neither physician expressly disagreed with the rating of the other (R. 200 and 194), because, in Dr. Holbrook's words

Pain is really not very measurable, even experimentally. And what one person might find as evaluation in a patient where the main problem is pain, there may be much greater variation from one examiner to another, than for example if it's an amputation. That's the same to everybody. But the interpretation of an examiner, based on the main problem of pain, is going to vary. Of course there is more supporting evidence now of the degree of pain that she has than we had evidence of at the time that I saw her. (R. 195)

Given the fact that the discovery of arachnoiditis gave objective support for the subjective pain of the applicant, the Commission increased the rating suggested by Dr. Holbrook by 10%, but didn't conclude that his unwillingness to disagree with Dr. Lamb's report without doing further tests and examining the evidence of arachnoiditis meant he would be in full agreement with that rating had those tests been performed. (R. 244) This resolution of the issue recognizes that the symptoms underlying the disability were unchanged, or possibly improved, from the time of Dr. Holbrook's original examination.

It has been previously noted that in arriving at a disability rating the Industrial Commission is not bound to accept expert medical opinion on the subject, but can base its determination on the record as a whole. Silver King Coalition Mines Co. v. Industrial Comm'n, supra. The defendant submits that the Commission resolved the conflict in the testimony in harmony with the evidence and should be sustained on review.

Finally, the plaintiff complains of the refusal of

the Commission to order the Fund to pay for the applicant's attendance at a weight loss clinic. As authority for her contention that such an expense should be borne by the defendants, plaintiff asserts that it is covered by Utah Code Ann. § 35-1-81 (1953), which provides, in relevant part, that

In addition to the compensation provided for in this title the employer or insurance carrier, or the commission of finance out of the state insurance fund, shall in ordinary cases also be required to pay such reasonable sum for medical, nurse and hospital services, and for medicines, and for such artificial means and appliances as may be necessary to treat the patient as in the judgment of the industrial commission may be just . . .

The simple answer to this assertion is that the award requested is not for "medical, nurse (or) hospital services" and even if it was, the Commission found that it would not be "just" to impose such costs on the defendants as there was nothing in the record to show that the plaintiff's weight problem was proximately caused by her industrial accident. (R. 255)

Any number of optional programs can have a therapeutic affect on injured employees, as evidenced by the numerous requests submitted to the State Insurance Fund for construction of in-home Jacuzzi pools, but the statutory scheme of compensation obligates the employer to pay for only those services which are "necessary" to treat for the industrial injury. There is nothing in the record to suggest that the expense of the weight loss program is "necessary" or that it was brought about by the accident. The Commission's Order denying that portion of the claim is neither unreasonable nor arbitrary.

CONCLUSION

Norma Clark's industrial injury resulted in a loss of bodily function which was primarily a result of back pain. While her treating physician admitted she could return to some type of employment, he felt she was 35% disabled. The defendants' submit that the Commission's finding that Ms. Clark was 30% disabled, when viewed in light of Dr. Holbrook's rating of a 20% impairment based on essentially the same symptoms, is an entirely reasonable resolution of the difficult proposition involved in rating impairments due to subjective symptoms such as pain. As there is nothing in the record to suggest that Ms. Clark isn't capable of returning to gainful employment, the defendants request that the Commission's action be affirmed.